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September 28, 2020

Jeff S. Jordon, Esq.
Assistant General Counsel
Complaints Examination & Legal Administration
Federal Election Commission
1050 First Street NE 
Washington, DC 20463

VIA E-MAIL: cela@fec.gov

Re: MUR 7783: Response from Friend of Byron Donalds

We write on behalf of Friends of Byron Donalds and Noreen Fenner, in her official 
capacity as Treasurer, (collectively “the Respondent”) in response to a complaint alleging that 
Friends of Byron Donalds violated the Federal Election Campaign Act of 1974, as amended 
(“FECA”) and Commission regulations by “transferring” soft money on behalf of federal 
candidate Byron Donalds (“Donalds”) under 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1), and violating the straw 
donor ban at 52 U.S.C. § 30122. The Complaint’s allegations are speculative and without merit.  
Respondent’s activity during the 2020 election cycle has not violated any state or federal law, as 
will be demonstrated in this Response. We ask the Commission to promptly dismiss this 
Complaint and close the file. 

I. Facts and Legal Analysis.

Friends of Byron Donalds is a political organization registered under Section 527 of the 
Internal Revenue Code (IRC) and previously registered with the Florida Elections Division.  It is 
not registered with the Federal Election Commission, and is not required to do so under FECA or 
Commission regulations.1  As of June 4, 2020, Respondent is no longer a Florida political 
committee, and has no plans to become politically active in the future.  Its active status with the 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) as a 527 organization is solely for the purposes of paying the 
legal fees associated with this Response. 

                                           
1 Registration is triggered with the Commission if an organization receives contributions or makes 
expenditures in excess of $1,000 during the calendar year to influence to outcome of a federal election. 11 C.F.R. §§ 
100.5(a), 102.1(d).    Making a contribution to a federally registered Super PAC does not trigger such registration 
and reporting requirements. 
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 Respondent registered with the Florida Elections Division as a state political committee 
on August 22, 2019, and named Donalds as its Chairman.2  On January 3, 2020, Donalds 
resigned as Chairman and was replaced by Ms. Fenner.3  On the same day, under Ms. Fenner’s 
leadership, Respondent contributed $87,000 to Conservatives for Effective Government 
(“CFEG”), another Florida political organization.4  On January 6, Donalds declared his 
candidacy for Florida’s 19th District.  
 
 Five months later, on May 28, 2020, CFEG refunded Respondent’s donation with a 
contribution to Respondents of $107,030.66.5  On June 4, 2020, Respondent notified the Florida 
Division of Elections it had ceased state level political activity in Florida.  On June 22, 2020, 
Respondent made a contribution for $107,456 to Trusted Conservatives (“the Super PAC”), a 
federal Super PAC that later supported Rep. Donalds’ candidacy.   
 
 Based solely on this timeline from public filings, the Complaint makes two allegations: 
(1) Respondent was established and controlled by Byron Donalds and was under Donalds’ 
control when it made its contribution to the Super PAC, and (2) Respondent’s receipt of funds 
from CFEG and its subsequent contribution to the Super PAC was in violation of the 
Commission’s straw donor regulations.  We address each accusation below.  
 
 First, the Complaint alleges that Respondent was established and controlled by Rep. 
Donalds in violation 52 U.S.C. § 30125(e)(1) when the contributions were made from CFEG to 
the Respondent and then from the Respondent to the Super PAC.  This is inaccurate because 
while Donalds was involved in the initial leadership of Respondent, he was not a federal 
candidate or officeholder at that time.  Donalds’ affiliation with the Respondent ended on 
January 3, 2020, as evidenced by his resignation statement with Florida’s Division of Elections.6  
Since his resignation, Donalds has had no interaction with Respondent, including any role in 
decision-making regarding the Respondent’s spending.  While we acknowledge that Donalds’ 
name was mistakenly not removed from one spot of Respondent’s website, his name’s presence 
on the site has no legal significance and was nothing more than as a result of human error.  That 
error was subsequently corrected and his name was removed.  Either way, listing someone in a 
colloquial context as “affiliated” with an organization on a website certainly does not in itself 
create legal affiliation.  
 
 The Complaint is hoping that the Commission will infer that Donalds is still affiliated 
with Respondent based on their prior relationship.  However, as the Commission has stated, an 
association prior to candidacy does not equate to a violation of FECA or Commission 
regulations.  Any assumption that “an individual’s pre-candidacy association with an 

                                            
2  Friends of Byron Donalds, Statement of Organization of Political Committee, Florida Department of State 
Division of Elections (Aug. 22, 2019), https://dos.elections.myflorida.com/campaign-docs/?account=74495  
3  Friends of Byron Donalds, Change of Officers, Florida Department of State Division of Elections (Jan. 3, 
2020), https://dos.elections.myflorida.com/campaign-docs/?account=74495.  
4  See Campaign Expenditures, Friends of Byron Donalds, January 2020, Florida Department of State 
Division of Elections, available at https://dos.elections myflorida.com/cgi-bin/TreFin.exe.   
5  See Friends of Byron Donalds, Campaign Finance Activity, Florida Department of State 
Division of Elections, https://dos.elections myflorida.com/committees/ComDetail.asp?account=74495.  
6  Friends of Byron Donalds, Change of Officers, Florida Department of State Division of Elections (Jan. 3, 
2020), https://dos.elections.myflorida.com/campaign-docs/?account=74495. 
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organization necessarily taints the independence of the organization’s later expenditures in 
support of that individual’s election is just that — an assumption.”7  In fact, as stated by 
members of this Commission, “an organization’s spending to support the candidacy of its 
founder or any other previously associated individual may reflect nothing more than their shared 
values and common goals.”8  This analysis applies to this Complaint.  The Respondent’s 
contribution was made independently and without any influence from Rep. Donalds, and the 
Complaint’s evidentiary support is based on adverse (and incorrect) assumptions, not facts, 
regarding the Respondent’s contribution.  
 
  Second, the Complaint alleges that Respondent violated the Commission’s straw donor 
regulations by accepting a contribution from CFEG and then later making a contribution to the 
Super PAC.  This is again false. The Respondent legally accepted a contribution from CFEG, 
and decided, one month later, to legally make a contribution to the Super PAC.  There was no 
ulterior motive, and it is difficult to find one, given that CFEG can legally give to the Super PAC 
on its own without involving Respondent. “Straw donor” rules are designed to prevent violations 
of contribution limits and/or ensure disclosure of the true source of contributions.  In this case, 
there were no contribution limits and the donation, refund, and transfer of funds were all 
publically reported, so there would have been no purpose or benefit if this was a nefarious 
scheme.  
 
 Additionally, this allegation is, again, rooted in speculation and inference.  The only 
evidentiary support provided by the Complaint for this allegation is its “timeline”, obviously 
with the hope that the Commission will make adverse assumptions to create links later.  
Unfortunately for the Complainant, this is not how the Commission works.  The Commission has 
previously dismissed complaints where there was no information to prove a straw donation 
violation other than alleged “similarities in contribution amounts and timing.”9   This 
information, as previously stated by the Commission, is “too speculative to support a reason to 
believe finding and justify further investigation.”10  This is exactly what the Complainant is 
doing in its Complaint, and the Commission should not waste any additional resources venturing 
down this rabbit hole.  
 

II. Conclusion. 
 
 Campaign Legal Center (“CLC”), the Complainant in this matter, claims to be “fighting 
for every American’s right to participate in the democratic process.”11  The reality is that CLC is 
                                            
7  Statement of Reasons for Vice Chairman Matthew S. Petersen and Caroline C. Hunter, MURs 6789 and 
6852 (Special Operations for America, et al) at 4 (May 28, 2019).  See also Statement of Reasons of Vice Chairman 
Matthew S. Petersen and Commissioner Caroline C. Hunter at 8, MUR 6928 (Santorum) (“Thus, an individual’s 
mere association with an organization prior to becoming a candidate does not give rise to a violation of 
the Act or Commission regulations[.]”).  
8  Id.  
9  First General Counsel’s Report at 8-9, MUR 7246 (Buddy Carter for Congress, et al.); see also MURs 5732 
(Matt Brown for U.S. Senate), 5520 (Republican Party of Louisiana/Tauzin), 5445 (Davis), 4643 (Perry), and 5125 
(Perry).  
10  Id.; See also FEC v. Machinists Non-partisan League, 655 F.2d 380, 388 (D.C. Cir. 1981) (footnote 
omitted)(“[M]ere ‘official curiosity’ will not suffice as the basis for FEC investigations ….”). 
11  See About CLC, Campaign Legal Center (last accessed Sept. 3, 2020), available at 
https://campaignlegal.org/about.  
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best known for its well-funded (with soft money) and persistent attempts to silence the voices of 
individuals and entities it disagrees with by filing threadbare and oftentimes frivolous 
complaints.  The Complaint is another one of those attempts.  Despite its attempt at legal 
legitimacy before the Commission through the use of legal jargon and strategically-presented 
timelines, it fails to demonstrate any evidence beyond speculation to establish that the 
Respondent violated any law.12  Therefore, and in light of the Commission’s history of 
dismissing these sorts of fishing expeditions, we ask the Commission to find no reason to believe 
against the Respondent and close the file.  
 
      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
      Charlie Spies  
      Katie Reynolds 
      Counsel to Friends of Byron Donalds 

                                            
12  Statement of Reasons, Comm'rs. Mason, Sandstrom, Smith & Thomas at 3, MUR 4960 (Hillary Rodham 
Clinton for Senate)("[P]urely speculative charges, especially when accompanied by a direct refutation, do not form 
an adequate basis to find reason to believe that a violation of the FECA has occurred.") 
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